
SPECIAL CALL CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 15, 2015  5:15 P.M. 

CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 
 
PRESENT:  Richard Winger, Mayor; Jay Kramer, Vice Mayor; Pilar Turner, Councilmember; Amelia 
Graves, Councilmember, Excused Absence, Councilmember and Randy Old, Councilmember  Also 
Present:  James O’Connor, City Manager; Wayne Coment, City Attorney and Tammy Vock, City Clerk 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
 A) Roll Call 
 
Mayor Winger opened the meeting at 5:15 p.m. and led the Council and audience in the Pledge of 
Allegiance to the flag. 
 
The City Clerk performed the roll call. 
 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Mrs. Laura Moss, Vero Beach Utilities Commission member, said that she had a few observations.  The 
first observation is that the majority of the people she spoke with were not in favor of the tax increase.  
Her second observation was that page five (5) of the Proposed Budget Fiscal Year 2015-2016, 
Background and the Budget Process didn’t have any background and people were unclear as to where 
the 30% came from.   
 
Ms. Cindy Lawson, Finance Director, explained that the background material for the budget hearings 
included a memorandum that was on top of the Budget Ordinance, which actually described in detail 
the items that would be funded with the tax increase (attached to the original minutes).  She then went 
over the positions that it would be funding.   
 
Mayor Winger asked Ms. Lawson to briefly go over the budget process.   
  
Ms. Lawson said it began with budget workshops that are held in July.  At the conclusion of the 
workshops the City Council established a not to exceed millage rate.  Then there are two public hearings 
held where the millage could be lowered, but could not be raised.  The first public hearing was held on 
September 3, 2015, which the millage rate to support the budget was about 38% over the rollback rate 
and the City Council lowered it to a millage of 2.38 to support the budget with the amendments that 
were made at that time.  Now, they are holding their final public hearing where the City Council can 
lower the millage rate, but not raise it from the rate they set on September 3, 2015.  Whatever the City 
Council adopts tonight will be the final millage for the coming fiscal year.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked that this information be placed in the background section of the budget book.      
 
Mr. Old noted that the budget workshop meetings could be viewed on the City’s website, as well as the 
minutes.   
 
Mrs. Moss said that she suggested this in the interest of making it easier for people. 
 

                                                   1  9/15/15 Special Call City Council 
 



Mr. Brian Heady said that he can see that one candidate who is up for reelection is not present.  He said 
the public cares how the candidates feel about the budget and tax dollars. 
 
Mayor Winger said candidates should not campaign during the meeting.  He apologized to Mr. Heady for 
interrupting him and asked him to continue. 
 
Mr. Heady commented on how many times Mayor Winger has apologized for interrupting him at this 
podium during his reign.  Mr. Heady said his point is that the public cares where candidates and elected 
officials stand on how they increase or decrease their tax burden.  He thanked Mrs. Turner and Mr. 
Kramer for trying to hold the line on taxes.  He said the taxpayers continually foot the bill for any 
extravagance that elected officials and government officials want.  Very rarely do they see where 
officials actually look to decrease the burden on the taxpayers and this is just another example in the 
City of Vero Beach where they are adding to their tax burden.   
 
Ms. Nancy McGowan did not think anyone would care about a tax increase if it was to get rid of the 
electric company.  She said they could then have a 50% tax increase and they would also probably have 
a 50% decrease in their electric bills.  She said they could deduct the amount of taxes they pay, but not 
their electrical fees.  She said to have a tax increase was fine, but they need to get rid of the electric 
company. 
 
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
A) An Ordinance of the City of Vero Beach, Florida, Providing the Levy of Ad Valorem Taxes for 

the Fiscal Year 2015-2016 at a Millage Rate of 2.3800 which equates to $2.3800 per $1,000 of 
Assessed Property Value. 

 
Mrs. Vock read the Ordinance by title only. 
 
Mr. Kramer said that he would like to discuss the budget.   
 
Mr. Kramer made a motion to table item 3-A).  Mayor Winger seconded the motion and it passed 
unanimously. 
 
B) An Ordinance of the City of Vero Beach, Florida, Adopting the Annual Budget of the City for 

the Fiscal Year beginning October 1, 2015 and ending September 30, 2016; Appropriating 
funds for the Operating Expenses, Supplies, and Personnel, and otherwise appropriating funds 
for the Efficient and Effective Operation of the Government of the City of Vero Beach and its 
Departments; Such appropriations being from anticipated revenue; providing a means to 
amend the Annual Budget to reflect Grants received after September 30, 2015; and 
authorizing the Transfer of Funds Appropriated so long as the total combined appropriations 
shall not be increased thereby; Providing an Effective Date. 

 
Mrs. Vock read the Ordinance by title only. 
 
Mr. Kramer said that Ms. Graves previously put forward a budget, which looked like she backed off on 
the transfer of capital projects by $450,000 dollars and weaned off of using reserves by $350,000 
dollars.  He said that he was going to suggest to Council that they use this budget (Ms. Graves’ proposal) 
and submit the budget surplus for the capital projects. 

                                                   2  9/15/15 Special Call City Council 
 



 
Ms. Lawson said the budget Ms. Graves proposed had two primary elements to it, which were the 
elimination of the $450,000 dollar transfer and the funding of the 2012-B Debt Service for $694,000 
dollars from the fund balance.  She reported that staff has already taken that first action of eliminating 
the $450,000 dollar transfer.  The only other major element in Ms. Graves’ proposal would be to pay the 
debt service of 2012-B from the fund balance rather than from current year funds.   
 
Mr. Kramer said that he would like to be able to use this year’s budget surplus for capital projects. 
 
Mrs. Turner asked what is the amount of the projected budget surplus for this year. 
 
Ms. Lawson said there is no budget surplus at this point.  Therefore, they essentially would be budgeting 
for the next fiscal year for revenues less than current year expenditures and depleting whatever fund 
balance they would have next year.  She said they would be back to the issue of if they want to budget 
where revenues are greater than expenses or where revenues are less than expenses and some of the 
expenses are funded by fund balance.   
 
Mr. Kramer said what they could do is not budget for the transfer of the capital projects and then do a 
budget amendment.   
 
Ms. Lawson said Council can always do a budget amendment. 
 
Mr. Kramer liked Ms. Graves’ proposal.   
 
Ms. Lawson said it actually would be less than that because Council eliminated the $450,000 dollars, 
they eliminated some of the proposed positions, and they eliminated the $45,000 for the dunes.  If 
Council was to take the final part of Ms. Graves’ proposal and pay the debt service from fund balance it 
would actually be lower than 11.79%. 
 
Mayor Winger said the problem with that is they don’t have a policy on what the fund balance should be 
and in lacking this policy they are deficit spending.   
 
Mr. Kramer said it is not deficit spending because deficit spending is spending borrowed money to pay 
expenses when they exceed revenues.  He said they are not borrowing money.  They have the money to 
spend. 
 
Mr. Old said they would be budgeting a deficit budget for the year (fewer revenues than expenses). 
 
Ms. Lawson said what they would have is a budget that shows that current year revenues are less than 
current year expenditures.   
 
Mr. Kramer understood that, but said the question is the desire of if they want to raise taxes or try to 
get to the lowest amount. 
 
Ms. Lawson said that is a policy decision of the City Council.   
 
Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager, said it is a reoccurring cost, which they would have again next year 
and would be faced with a similar situation. 

                                                   3  9/15/15 Special Call City Council 
 



Mrs. Turner said they also created a budget that expands the size of their government.  She said they 
are adding eight (8) new positions into the General Fund.  She said the budget does not include anything 
for stormwater repair, replacement, or putting in filters for the Lagoon.  It also does not address OPEB.   
 
Mr. Kramer said the problem is that they have four (4) Councilmembers present and they need to have a 
majority vote to pass a motion on the Ordinances. 
 
Mayor Winger wished they had a reserve policy because in lacking this policy they are deficit spending.   
 
Mr. Kramer said that he did not have a problem making a policy of 35%, which is what Homestead, 
Florida, did. 
 
Ms. Lawson said a draft policy that she would bring before Council would have more than one number.  
She said that she intends to propose that if they do budget to spend fund balance in any given year that 
it would be on non-reoccurring expenditures.   
 
Mayor Winger felt a policy needed to be discussed and decided on if it is good idea.  He was sympathetic 
to this, but with the rules they have in front of them they are deficit spending. 
 
Mr. Old said if they did set up a policy it would forbid reserves to be used for deficit spending and 
reoccurring expenditures. 
 
Mayor Winger felt that the general consensus of Council was that they were not willing to cross that 
bridge.  He asked what the City has in reserves in the General Fund. 
 
Ms. Lawson answered about $9.4 million dollars. 
 
Mayor Winger asked what percentage of that are expenditures. 
 
Ms. Lawson answered about $22 million dollars, which is somewhere between 40 and 43%.   
 
Mayor Winger asked if the City budgets $22 million dollars and doesn’t spend it all, what happens to the 
funds they did not spend. 
 
Ms. Lawson said it would stay in the City’s fund balance. 
 
Mayor Winger said in the final analysis, the $9.4 million dollars would go up and they could not spend it.  
He said at some point the money needs to go back to the public in some form. 
 
Ms. Lawson felt the problem people were having is that they are comparing final expenditures to the 
amended budget, which is always going to be less.  The City has not consistently had a fund balance that 
has gone up.  For the past 10 years the fund balance has gone up and down.  That is the reason staff is 
proposing a policy that includes layers so they have a layer they could dip in and out of for budget 
stabilization without dipping into the core funds.   
 
Mayor Winger said this is a topic City Council is going to have to decide on.  He noted that it would not 
be at tonight’s meeting, but at a future meeting. 
 

                                                   4  9/15/15 Special Call City Council 
 



The Mayor opened and closed the public hearing at 5:42 p.m., with no one wishing to be heard. 
 
Mr. Kramer said they have Enterprise Funds, which a lot of cities don’t have.  He said the Florida League 
of Cities has an average Reserve Fund of about 21.5% of their general budget.  He said with the amount 
of reserves the City has they could survive for two years without any taxes.   
 
Ms. Lawson said five (5) of the last 11 years the City’s fund balance has decreased as compared to their 
original budget.  Therefore, the idea that there has been a constant steady upward progression is not 
the case.   
 
Mr. O’Connor said his experience is that when they have a fund balance and want to expend it that they 
choose a project that they want to use the money for.  He said the primary reason for a fund balance is 
to show the financial integrity of the community.  He said the fact of the matter is that financially the 
City is healthy.  
 
Mr. Ken Daige asked how much is needed to stay in the fund balance.   
 
Ms. Lawson said currently they have $9.4 million dollars, which is 42.6% of current year expenditures.  
She said there is not a rule as far as what the amount should be.  She said it depends heavily on the 
volatility of the revenue sources, where they sit relative to the possibility of natural disasters, etc.    
 
Mr. Daige said when they start to look at a policy for the fund balance they would look at what the “safe 
zone” would need to be (how much the fund balance has to have).  Then they would decide going 
forward with what the money could be used for.  He asked when would they be discussing the policy. 
 
Ms. Lawson said it is her goal to bring a draft policy before the Finance Commission sometime between 
October and December.  She said another element of a fund balance policy is once they have what is 
considered to be surplus is what it could be spent on.   
 
Mayor Winger said they made changes during the budget hearings and he does not have any further 
suggestions.  
 
Mr. Old said that he was happy with what they have tonight.  He did not see any further cutting. 
 
Mrs. Turner said that she has made her position very clear.  She said the public has not seen a 30% 
increase in their income and the City needs to live within their means.  They are expanding the size of 
their government and adding positions, which is great, but they cannot afford it.   
 
A gentleman from the audience (John) asked when was the last time the employees had a pay increase.  
He asked who would be getting an increase and when was the last time they received one.  
 
Mr. O’Connor said the last increase was two (2) years ago.  He said in this budget it would be three-
percent, which would apply to everyone if the Teamster’s contract is approved.  He said the City has not 
come to an agreement with the Police Unions, but this budget would allow the City to negotiate up to 
three-percent.     
 

                                                   5  9/15/15 Special Call City Council 
 



The gentleman said they have just as many as people on food stamps in this Country as the size of the 
population of Canada.  He was shocked that they were discussing a pay increase of three-percent every 
year.   
 
Mr. O’Connor noted that there is not an increase every year.    
 
The gentleman said the unemployment rate in this Country is out of control.  He did not see how they 
could be sitting there discussing having the citizens give them a raise every year or every other year.  He 
asked where is the money coming from. 
 
Mayor Winger asked Mr. O’Connor to give a little history starting from 2008. 
  
Mr. O’Connor said the City had a pay freeze, as well as furlough days.  The following year management 
took the pay decrease to equal the amount in order for the other employees not have to take a furlough 
day.  After five years they gave a three-percent increase.  In this budget the employees would receive an 
increase of three-percent, which it has been two years since their last increase.  He said that equals 
somewhere in the neighborhood of less than one-percent of an increase every year. 
 
Mr. Old noted that the City also reduced staff by about 30%. 
 
At this time, Council went back to item A).   
 
Mayor Winger read the Ordinance by title only.   
 
Mr. Old made a motion to approve the Ordinance. 
 
Ms. Lawson read into the record Section I of the Ordinance, “The City of Vero Beach, Florida, shall levy a 
general ad valorem tax of 2.3800 mills against the value of all real and tangible personal property within 
the City limits subject to taxation on the first day of January, 2015 to finance current operating expenses 
of the City.  The tax shall be assessed and collected in the manner provided by law.” 
 
Mayor Winger seconded the motion and it failed 2-2 with Mr. Old voting yes, Mrs. Turner no, Mr. 
Kramer no, and Mayor Winger yes.   
 
Ms. Lawson explained to Council that the millage rate has to be adopted by a majority vote. 
 
Mr. Kramer said Vero Beach has immense diversity in their population.  There are a lot of people who 
can’t afford a tax increase.  There are a lot of people who own very wealthy real estate, but who do not 
have a lot of money.  This was his reasoning for trying to hold the line on taxes.  He did not see the 
reason for raising taxes.  He said that he might be okay with a small tax increase, but not for what is 
being proposed.   
 
Mayor Winger said the City has not had a tax increase for many years.   
 
Ms. Lawson said the tax revenue collected has fallen steadily since 2007 and they had a small increase 
last year.  She said they held the millage rate for three (3) years. 
 

                                                   6  9/15/15 Special Call City Council 
 



Mayor Winger said if the 2-2 vote is a stand then he would call a Special Call City Council meeting on 
September 22, 2015.   
 
Mr. Wayne Coment, City Attorney, explained that they would need to recess this meeting due to 
circumstances beyond the control of the Council.   
 
Mayor Winger made a motion that due to circumstances beyond the control of the City Council that 
they recess item A) and continue it to September 22, 2015 at 5:15 p.m.  Mr. Kramer seconded the 
motion and it passed 3-1 with Mr. Old voting yes, Mrs. Turner no, Mr. Kramer yes, and Mayor Winger 
yes.   
 
Mr. Kramer made a motion that they continue item B) to September 22, 2015 at 5:15 p.m.  Mayor 
Winger seconded the motion and it passed 3-1 with Mr. Old voting yes, Mrs. Turner no, Mr. Kramer yes, 
and Mayor Winger yes.   
 
4. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Mayor Winger made a motion that today’s meeting will be continued to September 22, 2015 at 5:15 
p.m.  Mr. Kramer seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.   
 
Mayor Winger recessed today’s meeting at 6:01 p.m. 
 
/sp 
 
 

                                                   7  9/15/15 Special Call City Council 
 


	SPECIAL CALL CITY COUNCIL MINUTES
	TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 15, 2015  5:15 P.M.
	CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA
	PRESENT:  Richard Winger, Mayor; Jay Kramer, Vice Mayor; Pilar Turner, Councilmember; Amelia Graves, Councilmember, Excused Absence, Councilmember and Randy Old, Councilmember  Also Present:  James O’Connor, City Manager; Wayne Coment, City Attorney and Tammy Vock, City Clerk
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	 A) Roll Call
	Mayor Winger opened the meeting at 5:15 p.m. and led the Council and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag.
	The City Clerk performed the roll call.
	2. PUBLIC COMMENT
	Mrs. Laura Moss, Vero Beach Utilities Commission member, said that she had a few observations.  The first observation is that the majority of the people she spoke with were not in favor of the tax increase.  Her second observation was that page five (5) of the Proposed Budget Fiscal Year 2015-2016, Background and the Budget Process didn’t have any background and people were unclear as to where the 30% came from.  
	Ms. Cindy Lawson, Finance Director, explained that the background material for the budget hearings included a memorandum that was on top of the Budget Ordinance, which actually described in detail the items that would be funded with the tax increase (attached to the original minutes).  She then went over the positions that it would be funding.  
	Mayor Winger asked Ms. Lawson to briefly go over the budget process.  
	Ms. Lawson said it began with budget workshops that are held in July.  At the conclusion of the workshops the City Council established a not to exceed millage rate.  Then there are two public hearings held where the millage could be lowered, but could not be raised.  The first public hearing was held on September 3, 2015, which the millage rate to support the budget was about 38% over the rollback rate and the City Council lowered it to a millage of 2.38 to support the budget with the amendments that were made at that time.  Now, they are holding their final public hearing where the City Council can lower the millage rate, but not raise it from the rate they set on September 3, 2015.  Whatever the City Council adopts tonight will be the final millage for the coming fiscal year.  
	Mrs. Moss asked that this information be placed in the background section of the budget book.     
	Mr. Old noted that the budget workshop meetings could be viewed on the City’s website, as well as the minutes.  
	Mrs. Moss said that she suggested this in the interest of making it easier for people.
	Mr. Brian Heady said that he can see that one candidate who is up for reelection is not present.  He said the public cares how the candidates feel about the budget and tax dollars.
	Mayor Winger said candidates should not campaign during the meeting.  He apologized to Mr. Heady for interrupting him and asked him to continue.
	Mr. Heady commented on how many times Mayor Winger has apologized for interrupting him at this podium during his reign.  Mr. Heady said his point is that the public cares where candidates and elected officials stand on how they increase or decrease their tax burden.  He thanked Mrs. Turner and Mr. Kramer for trying to hold the line on taxes.  He said the taxpayers continually foot the bill for any extravagance that elected officials and government officials want.  Very rarely do they see where officials actually look to decrease the burden on the taxpayers and this is just another example in the City of Vero Beach where they are adding to their tax burden.  
	Ms. Nancy McGowan did not think anyone would care about a tax increase if it was to get rid of the electric company.  She said they could then have a 50% tax increase and they would also probably have a 50% decrease in their electric bills.  She said they could deduct the amount of taxes they pay, but not their electrical fees.  She said to have a tax increase was fine, but they need to get rid of the electric company.
	3. PUBLIC HEARINGS
	A) An Ordinance of the City of Vero Beach, Florida, Providing the Levy of Ad Valorem Taxes for the Fiscal Year 2015-2016 at a Millage Rate of 2.3800 which equates to $2.3800 per $1,000 of Assessed Property Value.
	Mrs. Vock read the Ordinance by title only.
	Mr. Kramer said that he would like to discuss the budget.  
	Mr. Kramer made a motion to table item 3-A).  Mayor Winger seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.
	B) An Ordinance of the City of Vero Beach, Florida, Adopting the Annual Budget of the City for the Fiscal Year beginning October 1, 2015 and ending September 30, 2016; Appropriating funds for the Operating Expenses, Supplies, and Personnel, and otherwise appropriating funds for the Efficient and Effective Operation of the Government of the City of Vero Beach and its Departments; Such appropriations being from anticipated revenue; providing a means to amend the Annual Budget to reflect Grants received after September 30, 2015; and authorizing the Transfer of Funds Appropriated so long as the total combined appropriations shall not be increased thereby; Providing an Effective Date.
	Mrs. Vock read the Ordinance by title only.
	Mr. Kramer said that Ms. Graves previously put forward a budget, which looked like she backed off on the transfer of capital projects by $450,000 dollars and weaned off of using reserves by $350,000 dollars.  He said that he was going to suggest to Council that they use this budget (Ms. Graves’ proposal) and submit the budget surplus for the capital projects.
	Ms. Lawson said the budget Ms. Graves proposed had two primary elements to it, which were the elimination of the $450,000 dollar transfer and the funding of the 2012-B Debt Service for $694,000 dollars from the fund balance.  She reported that staff has already taken that first action of eliminating the $450,000 dollar transfer.  The only other major element in Ms. Graves’ proposal would be to pay the debt service of 2012-B from the fund balance rather than from current year funds.  
	Mr. Kramer said that he would like to be able to use this year’s budget surplus for capital projects.
	Mrs. Turner asked what is the amount of the projected budget surplus for this year.
	Ms. Lawson said there is no budget surplus at this point.  Therefore, they essentially would be budgeting for the next fiscal year for revenues less than current year expenditures and depleting whatever fund balance they would have next year.  She said they would be back to the issue of if they want to budget where revenues are greater than expenses or where revenues are less than expenses and some of the expenses are funded by fund balance.  
	Mr. Kramer said what they could do is not budget for the transfer of the capital projects and then do a budget amendment.  
	Ms. Lawson said Council can always do a budget amendment.
	Mr. Kramer liked Ms. Graves’ proposal.  
	Ms. Lawson said it actually would be less than that because Council eliminated the $450,000 dollars, they eliminated some of the proposed positions, and they eliminated the $45,000 for the dunes.  If Council was to take the final part of Ms. Graves’ proposal and pay the debt service from fund balance it would actually be lower than 11.79%.
	Mayor Winger said the problem with that is they don’t have a policy on what the fund balance should be and in lacking this policy they are deficit spending.  
	Mr. Kramer said it is not deficit spending because deficit spending is spending borrowed money to pay expenses when they exceed revenues.  He said they are not borrowing money.  They have the money to spend.
	Mr. Old said they would be budgeting a deficit budget for the year (fewer revenues than expenses).
	Ms. Lawson said what they would have is a budget that shows that current year revenues are less than current year expenditures.  
	Mr. Kramer understood that, but said the question is the desire of if they want to raise taxes or try to get to the lowest amount.
	Ms. Lawson said that is a policy decision of the City Council.  
	Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager, said it is a reoccurring cost, which they would have again next year and would be faced with a similar situation.
	Mrs. Turner said they also created a budget that expands the size of their government.  She said they are adding eight (8) new positions into the General Fund.  She said the budget does not include anything for stormwater repair, replacement, or putting in filters for the Lagoon.  It also does not address OPEB.  
	Mr. Kramer said the problem is that they have four (4) Councilmembers present and they need to have a majority vote to pass a motion on the Ordinances.
	Mayor Winger wished they had a reserve policy because in lacking this policy they are deficit spending.  
	Mr. Kramer said that he did not have a problem making a policy of 35%, which is what Homestead, Florida, did.
	Ms. Lawson said a draft policy that she would bring before Council would have more than one number.  She said that she intends to propose that if they do budget to spend fund balance in any given year that it would be on non-reoccurring expenditures.  
	Mayor Winger felt a policy needed to be discussed and decided on if it is good idea.  He was sympathetic to this, but with the rules they have in front of them they are deficit spending.
	Mr. Old said if they did set up a policy it would forbid reserves to be used for deficit spending and reoccurring expenditures.
	Mayor Winger felt that the general consensus of Council was that they were not willing to cross that bridge.  He asked what the City has in reserves in the General Fund.
	Ms. Lawson answered about $9.4 million dollars.
	Mayor Winger asked what percentage of that are expenditures.
	Ms. Lawson answered about $22 million dollars, which is somewhere between 40 and 43%.  
	Mayor Winger asked if the City budgets $22 million dollars and doesn’t spend it all, what happens to the funds they did not spend.
	Ms. Lawson said it would stay in the City’s fund balance.
	Mayor Winger said in the final analysis, the $9.4 million dollars would go up and they could not spend it.  He said at some point the money needs to go back to the public in some form.
	Ms. Lawson felt the problem people were having is that they are comparing final expenditures to the amended budget, which is always going to be less.  The City has not consistently had a fund balance that has gone up.  For the past 10 years the fund balance has gone up and down.  That is the reason staff is proposing a policy that includes layers so they have a layer they could dip in and out of for budget stabilization without dipping into the core funds.  
	Mayor Winger said this is a topic City Council is going to have to decide on.  He noted that it would not be at tonight’s meeting, but at a future meeting.
	The Mayor opened and closed the public hearing at 5:42 p.m., with no one wishing to be heard.
	Mr. Kramer said they have Enterprise Funds, which a lot of cities don’t have.  He said the Florida League of Cities has an average Reserve Fund of about 21.5% of their general budget.  He said with the amount of reserves the City has they could survive for two years without any taxes.  
	Ms. Lawson said five (5) of the last 11 years the City’s fund balance has decreased as compared to their original budget.  Therefore, the idea that there has been a constant steady upward progression is not the case.  
	Mr. O’Connor said his experience is that when they have a fund balance and want to expend it that they choose a project that they want to use the money for.  He said the primary reason for a fund balance is to show the financial integrity of the community.  He said the fact of the matter is that financially the City is healthy. 
	Mr. Ken Daige asked how much is needed to stay in the fund balance.  
	Ms. Lawson said currently they have $9.4 million dollars, which is 42.6% of current year expenditures.  She said there is not a rule as far as what the amount should be.  She said it depends heavily on the volatility of the revenue sources, where they sit relative to the possibility of natural disasters, etc.   
	Mr. Daige said when they start to look at a policy for the fund balance they would look at what the “safe zone” would need to be (how much the fund balance has to have).  Then they would decide going forward with what the money could be used for.  He asked when would they be discussing the policy.
	Ms. Lawson said it is her goal to bring a draft policy before the Finance Commission sometime between October and December.  She said another element of a fund balance policy is once they have what is considered to be surplus is what it could be spent on.  
	Mayor Winger said they made changes during the budget hearings and he does not have any further suggestions. 
	Mr. Old said that he was happy with what they have tonight.  He did not see any further cutting.
	Mrs. Turner said that she has made her position very clear.  She said the public has not seen a 30% increase in their income and the City needs to live within their means.  They are expanding the size of their government and adding positions, which is great, but they cannot afford it.  
	A gentleman from the audience (John) asked when was the last time the employees had a pay increase.  He asked who would be getting an increase and when was the last time they received one. 
	Mr. O’Connor said the last increase was two (2) years ago.  He said in this budget it would be three-percent, which would apply to everyone if the Teamster’s contract is approved.  He said the City has not come to an agreement with the Police Unions, but this budget would allow the City to negotiate up to three-percent.    
	The gentleman said they have just as many as people on food stamps in this Country as the size of the population of Canada.  He was shocked that they were discussing a pay increase of three-percent every year.  
	Mr. O’Connor noted that there is not an increase every year.   
	The gentleman said the unemployment rate in this Country is out of control.  He did not see how they could be sitting there discussing having the citizens give them a raise every year or every other year.  He asked where is the money coming from.
	Mayor Winger asked Mr. O’Connor to give a little history starting from 2008.
	Mr. O’Connor said the City had a pay freeze, as well as furlough days.  The following year management took the pay decrease to equal the amount in order for the other employees not have to take a furlough day.  After five years they gave a three-percent increase.  In this budget the employees would receive an increase of three-percent, which it has been two years since their last increase.  He said that equals somewhere in the neighborhood of less than one-percent of an increase every year.
	Mr. Old noted that the City also reduced staff by about 30%.
	At this time, Council went back to item A).  
	Mayor Winger read the Ordinance by title only.  
	Mr. Old made a motion to approve the Ordinance.
	Ms. Lawson read into the record Section I of the Ordinance, “The City of Vero Beach, Florida, shall levy a general ad valorem tax of 2.3800 mills against the value of all real and tangible personal property within the City limits subject to taxation on the first day of January, 2015 to finance current operating expenses of the City.  The tax shall be assessed and collected in the manner provided by law.”
	Mayor Winger seconded the motion and it failed 2-2 with Mr. Old voting yes, Mrs. Turner no, Mr. Kramer no, and Mayor Winger yes.  
	Ms. Lawson explained to Council that the millage rate has to be adopted by a majority vote.
	Mr. Kramer said Vero Beach has immense diversity in their population.  There are a lot of people who can’t afford a tax increase.  There are a lot of people who own very wealthy real estate, but who do not have a lot of money.  This was his reasoning for trying to hold the line on taxes.  He did not see the reason for raising taxes.  He said that he might be okay with a small tax increase, but not for what is being proposed.  
	Mayor Winger said the City has not had a tax increase for many years.  
	Ms. Lawson said the tax revenue collected has fallen steadily since 2007 and they had a small increase last year.  She said they held the millage rate for three (3) years.
	Mayor Winger said if the 2-2 vote is a stand then he would call a Special Call City Council meeting on September 22, 2015.  
	Mr. Wayne Coment, City Attorney, explained that they would need to recess this meeting due to circumstances beyond the control of the Council.  
	Mayor Winger made a motion that due to circumstances beyond the control of the City Council that they recess item A) and continue it to September 22, 2015 at 5:15 p.m.  Mr. Kramer seconded the motion and it passed 3-1 with Mr. Old voting yes, Mrs. Turner no, Mr. Kramer yes, and Mayor Winger yes.  
	Mr. Kramer made a motion that they continue item B) to September 22, 2015 at 5:15 p.m.  Mayor Winger seconded the motion and it passed 3-1 with Mr. Old voting yes, Mrs. Turner no, Mr. Kramer yes, and Mayor Winger yes.  
	4. ADJOURNMENT
	Mayor Winger made a motion that today’s meeting will be continued to September 22, 2015 at 5:15 p.m.  Mr. Kramer seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.  
	Mayor Winger recessed today’s meeting at 6:01 p.m.
	/sp


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


